IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

HANCE CHATAVIUS WEST

FILED

APPELLANT

MAR 0 7 2007

Office of the Clerk
Supreme Court

NO. 2006--KA-1353-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

V.

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

BENJAMIN A. SUBER MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS 301 NORTH LAMAR STREET, SUITE 210 JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39201 TELEPHONE: 601-576-4200

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS IN THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

HANCE CHATAVIUS WEST

APPELLANT

 \mathbf{V} .

NO.2006-KA-01353-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE AFTER THE STATE FAILED TO COMPLY WITH DISCOVERY RULES BY NOT PROVIDING MEDICAL RECORDS REQUESTED UNTIL THE MORNING OF THE TRIAL
ISSUE NO. 2
THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING WEST'S OBJECTION TO EXCLUDE CHARACTER EVIDENCE OF PRIOR BAD ACTS IN VIOLATION OF RULES 403 AND 404 OF THE MISSISSIPPI RULES OF EVIDENCE
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
FACTS 2
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT4
ARGUMENT 5
CONCLUSION14
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Robinson v. State, 508 So.2d at, 1067, 1070 (Miss. 1987) 5,6,10
Ballenger v. State, 667 So.2d 1242, 1256 (Miss. 1995)
Bishop v. State, 761 So.2d 894 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000)
Box v. State, 437 So.2d 19 (Miss. 1983)
Brown v. State, 890 So.2d 901, 912 (Miss. 2004)
Clemons v. State, 732 So.2d 883, 887 (Miss. 1999)
Darghty v. State, 530 So.2d 27, 33 (Miss. 1998)
Duplantis v. State, 644 So.2d 1235 (Miss. 1994)
Inman v. State, 515 So.2d 1150, 1153 (Miss. 1987)
Jones v. State, 904 So.2d 149, 152 (Miss. 2005)
Lesley v. State, 606 So.2d 1084, 1080-90 (Miss. 1992)
McCullough v. State, 750 So.2d 1212, 1217 (Miss. 1999) 5-8, 10
Palmer v. State, 939 So.2d 792, 794 (Miss. 2006)
Powell v. State, 925 So.2d 878, 881 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) 6, 9
Robinson v. State, 508 So.2d 1067, 1070 (Miss. 1987)
Rose v. State, 556 So.2d 728, 731 (Miss. 1990)
Simmons v. State, 813 So.2d 710, 716 (Miss. 2002)
Snelson v. State, 704 So.2d 452, 458 (Miss. 1997)

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS IN THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

V. NO. 2006-KA-01353-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING WEST'S MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE AFTER THE STATE FAILED TO COMPLY WITH DISCOVERY RULES BY NOT PROVIDING MEDICAL RECORDS REQUESTED UNTIL THE MORNING OF THE TRIAL.

ISSUE NO. 2

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING WEST'S OBJECTION TO EXCLUDE CHARACTER EVIDENCE OF PRIOR BAD ACTS IN VIOLATION OF RULES 403 AND 404 OF THE MISSISSIPPI RULES OF EVIDENCE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Washington County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction for the crimes of count I - aggravated assault and count II - felony failure to stop motor vehicle. The crime of count I - aggravated assault resulted in a term of twenty (20) years and the crime of count II - felony failure to stop motor vehicle resulted in a term of five (5) years to run consecutive with count I. A jury trial was held July 19-20, 2006, Honorable W. Ashley Hines, Circuit Judge, presiding. Hance Chatavius West is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi department of Corrections.

FACTS

According to the trial testimony, around noon of January 8, 2006, Laurence Clay [hereinafter Clay] went to the Kin Mar Grocery to get some beer for a football party that afternoon. [T. 82]. Clay was taken to the store by his sister Algea Clay [hereinafter Algea]. [T. 82]. Clay stated that when they pulled up to the store, he spotted a group of guys, along with Hance West [hereinafter West], outside of the store. [T. 83].

As Clay was walking to the store, he saw West bent over a car and when West noticed Clay he started walking toward Clay. *Id.* Clay said that he never made it into the store. As he was entering the store, West bumped him and words were said between them. [T. 84, 93]. Clay continued walking into the store when saw some guys out of the corner of his eyes break and run. [T. 93, 111]. Clay turned to see what was happening and he allegedly saw West coming out of the car with a gun. [T. 93].

He then was headed back to his sister's car and before he got to the car two shots were fired off. [T. 93-94]. Clay stated that he realized his nephew was in the car and told West not to shoot in the car because his nephew was in the car. [T. 93, 95, 112]. Clay then took off running across St. Charles street and ran across a church field next to the church and supposedly West was behind him shooting. [T. 96]. Clay said that there was about seven more shots and was hit with one of the last shots. [T. 96-97]. Clay kept running until he ran upon Sheriff Milton Gaston and his sister Algea at the streets of Edison and Walthall. [T. 98]. Algea took Clay to the hospital where he was treated. [T. 99].

Algea, who had two prior convictions for uttering forgery and felony worthless check, did have testimony that differed from her brother Clay. Algea testified that another person was in the vehicle with her, Clay, and her son. [T. 127]. Algea listed Michael Hamilton as another passenger in the car that Clay did not list as being in the car on that day. [T. 128]. Also, Algea stated that Clay went into the store to buy beer and when he came out of the store with the beer, he and West bumped each other. [T.131, 140]. Algea said that Clay came back to the car and threw his bag containing beer in the window of the car and West started shooting. [T. 142].

After the alleged incident occurred, police officers were alerted to the incident. [T. 177]. Officer Galloway located the vehicle that was reported over the radio and was in pursuit. [T. 178-79]. The officer continued to state that once he encountered West, he attempted an initial traffic stop but West reportedly increased speed and failed to stop. [T. 179].

Officer Galloway stated that the chase lasted seven blocks and when the car chase ended, West bailed out of the vehicle and began running. [T. 183-84]. Once the officers apprehended West, Officer Galloway went back to where the vehicle was left and discovered that the vehicle he had been chasing was gone. [T. 186]. The vehicle was later located. [T. 188]. The gun that was used in the shooting was never discovered.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court should have granted West a continuance of the trial. The State did not provide West with Clay's medical records until the day of trial, even though they were requested prior to that day. The State originally stated that they were not going to use the document but on the morning of trial they had the document. The trial court only allowed West a few minutes to view the document. This was a reversible error by the court in denying West his right to a fair trial. This Court should reverse the trial court and remand the case for a new trial.

The trial court should not have admitted prejudicial evidence. The State offered evidence of an alleged prior altercation. The evidence was offered by Clay, who did not see who hit him, was offered strictly to show that he acted in conformity therewith, not for motive. Even if it was offered to show motive, it still violated M. R. E. 403 because the evidence was more prejudicial that probative. This was reversible error by the court to admit this evidence and this Court should reverse the trial court and remand the case for a new trial.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING WEST'S MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE AFTER THE STATE FAILED TO COMPLY WITH DISCOVERY RULES BY NOT PROVIDING MEDICAL RECORDS REQUESTED UNTIL THE MORNING OF THE TRIAL.

The trial judge prevented West from having a fair trial. West requested the medical records of Clay prior to the day of trial. [T. 2]. The State did not provide the records until the day of trial. *Id.* The State initially declared that they did not intend to use the records and therefore they would not be introduced in evidence, however on the day of trial the State had the records. [T. 2-3]. West immediately asked for a motion for continuance for two reasons: one because it was the first setting; and two because they requested the medical records and did not acquire them. [T. 2]. The trial judge consequently denied the motion stating that the records were not "that crucial . . . to any aspect of the case." [T. 3].

The State violated the discovery requirements by failing to disclose the medical records of Clay prior to the trial. *Box v. State*, 437 So.2d 19 (Miss. 1983) first set forth the procedure that trial courts should follow in settling discovery violations, however that procedure is now set forth in Rule 9.04 of the Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules. *McCullough v. State*, 750 So.2d 1212, 1217 (Miss. 1999), *Duplantis v. State*, 644 So.2d 1235 (Miss. 1994).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that "the essential purpose of Rule 9.04 is the elimination of trial by ambush and surprise." *Robinson v. State*, 508 So.2d 1067, 1070

(Miss. 1987). See also **Rule 9.04** of the Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules. **Rule 9.04** states the following:

[T]he prosecution must disclose to each defendant or to defendant's attorney, and permit the defendant or defendant's attorney to inspect, copy, test, and photograph upon written request and without the necessity of court order the following which is in the possession, custody, or control of the state, the existence of which is known or by the exercise of due diligence may become known to the prosecution:

4. Any reports, statements, or opinions of experts, written, recorded or otherwise preserved, made in connection with the particular case and the substance of any oral statement made by any such expert.

U.R.C.C.C. § 9.04 (1997).

"Disclosure is the hallmark of fairness and the quest for justice that should be the goal of the criminal justice system." *Wooten v. State*, 811 So.2d 355, 365 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001); *Robinson*, 508 So.2d at 1070. When the state violates the rules of discovery, the trial court should abide by the rules set out in *Box*, which is now reflected in *Rule 9.04*. *McCullough*, 750 So.2d at 1217; *Box*, 437 So.2d at 23-24; *Powell v. State*, 925 So.2d 878, 881 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). See also U.R.C.C.P. § 9.04 (1997). The following procedure is set out in *Rule 9.04*:

If during the course of trial, the prosecution attempts to introduce evidence which has not been timely disclosed to the defense as required by these rules, and the defense objects to the introduction for that reason, the court shall act as follows:

- 1. Grant the defense a reasonable opportunity to interview the newly discovered witness, to examine the newly produced documents, photographs or other evidence; and
- 2. If, after such opportunity, the defense claims unfair surprise or undue prejudice and seeks a continuance or mistrial, the court shall, in the interest of justice and absent unusual circumstances, exclude the evidence or grant a

- continuance for a period or time reasonable necessary for the defense to meet the non-disclosed evidence or grant a mistrial.
- 3. The court shall not be required to grant either a continuance or mistrial for such a discovery violation if the prosecution withdraws its efforts to introduce such evidence.

U.R.C.C. 9.04 I. The Mississippi Supreme Court held in *McCullough*, that failure to follow the *Box* guidelines¹ is prejudicial error, requiring reversal and remand. *McCullough*, 750 So.2d at 1217; *Snelson v. State*, 704 So.2d 452, 458 (Miss. 1997); *Duplantis*, 644 So.2d at 1250; *Darghty v. State*, 530 So.2d 27, 33 (Miss. 1998).

The State did not provide the medical records of Clay until the morning of trial. West requested a motion for continuance. The judge denied the motion and allowed a short recess for West to review over the records. The records are thick and can not possibly be reviewed in a short fifteen to twenty minute recess. The State originally proclaimed that they were not going to use the document at all but they changed their minds on the morning of trial. [T. 2, 246] **Rule 9.04** states that the defense should have a reasonable time to examine the newly produced documents, but West only had fifteen to twenty minutes to review the medical records. This short amount of time is not reasonable.

Testimony from Clay that he did not smoke marijuana could have been contradicted by an expert reviewing these records. Evidence was potentially available

¹Box guidelines are now reflected in Rule 9.04 of the Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules. *McCullough v. State*, 750 So.2d 1212, 1217 (Miss. 1999); *Duplantis v. State*, 644 So.2d 1235 (Miss. 1994).

in the medical records that Clay did smoke marijuana, but no expert was available to examine the records. The only witness available on the day of trial that knew anything about the medical records was the Director of Health Information Management and Compliance at the Delta Regional Medical Center. She was in no way an expert and could not analyze the records properly, she said so herself. [T. 247]. A motion for continuance would have allowed West a proper defense and a reasonable opportunity to review the records.

The Mississippi Supreme Court stated that there is no hard and fast rule determining how much time is a reasonable time for the defense to review the newly acquired evidence. *Inman v. State*, 515 So.2d 1150, 1153 (Miss. 1987); *Wooten*, 811 So.2d at 365. The medical records are nearly a half inch thick and a thorough review of the records could not be complete in such a short period of time.

The facts in the *McCullough* case are similar to the facts in this case. In *McCullough*, the prosecution informed McCullough that it intended to impeach his testimony using newly acquired evidence. The evidence was not provided to McCullough until the morning of trial. McCullough made an objection to the evidence and requested a continuance. The Mississippi Supreme Court held that "[s]ince the defense was not presented with the evidence until the morning of the trial, and McCullough requested a continuance which was denied, this Court finds prejudicial error." *McCullough*, 750 So.2d at 1217. The Court in *McCullough* reversed and remanded the case. These facts are very related to the facts in the case

involving West. West did not receive the medical records until the morning of trial even though they were requested prior to trial.

The Mississippi Court of Appeals held in *Powell* that a violation of the discovery rules by the prosecution does not always result in a reversal of the conviction. *Powell*, 925 So.2d at 882. However, that case can be distinguished. In **Powell**, this court said that it was error for the State to use an impeaching document that was not disclosed to the defendant. Id. However, this court did not reverse because the defendant failed to bring the matter to the trial court's attention. Id. Powell filed a motion for a new trial after he was convicted stating that the court erred in allowing the State to impeach him because he was not given a copy of the impeaching document. *Id.* This court continued to say that if Powell would have brought this information up to the trial court during the trial, then the trial court would have been compelled to proceed in accordance with Rule 9.04 I. Id. In the case involving West, the trial court was immediately notified that the State had violated the discovery rules and asked for a continuance, which was subsequently denied by the court. [T. 2].

The Court in *Inman* stated that "[w]here that State is tardy in furnishing discovery which it was obligated to disclose and after an initial objection is made by the defense, the defendant is entitled upon a request to a continuance postponement of the proceeds reasonable under the circumstances." *Id.* West did make a timely objection in asking for a continuance and the trial court only allowed a brief period

of time to review the medical records. The information in the medical records, if examined by a proper expert, would have prevented West from a trial by ambush and surprise. *Wooten v. State*, 811 So.2d at 365; *Robinson*, 508 So.2d at 1070. Without the opportunity to review the records, West was denied his right to a fair trial. See U.R.C.C.P. § 9.04 (1997). Hance West was entitled to a continuance of the proceedings against him and failure to do so was prejudicial error which entitles a reversal and remand to the trial court. *McCullough*, 750 So.2d at 1217; *Snelson v. State*, 704 So.2d at 458; *Duplantis*, 644 So.2d at 1250; *Darghty v. State*, 530 So.2d at 33.

ISSUE NO. 2

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING WEST'S OBJECTION TO EXCLUDE CHARACTER EVIDENCE OF PRIOR BAD ACTS IN VIOLATION OF RULES 403 AND 404 OF THE MISSISSIPPI RULES OF EVIDENCE.

West objected to the introduction of a prior altercation which was ultimately denied by the trial court. The prior so-called altercation took place approximately a month prior to the alleged incident in this case. The exact day and time of the altercation is unknown. Clay had an on and off eight year relationship with West's sister, Odelia West. [T. 85, 114]. Clay and Odelia were having a "few words" at the C & G Lounge. [T. 87, 115]. Clay testified that he told Odelia that she had given him a sexually transmitted disease and Odelia was arguing with him, but he just ignored her at the lounge. [T. 87, 91]. Clay then claims that Odelia went and got West, who

was there also. *Id.* Clay claims that he and West had a few more words and when he went to leave he was hit from behind in the head with a beer bottle. [T. 92]. Clay admits that he did not see West hit him from behind. [T. 117]. Clay told the court that he had a cousin from Detroit, Michigan that said that West hit him in the head. *Id.* No evidence about getting hit in the head was presented to the court other than what Clay testified. The effect of the altercation was highly prejudicial to West.

"The standard of review regarding the admission or exclusion of evidence is abuse of discretion." *Palmer v. State*, 939 So.2d 792, 794 (Miss. 2006); *Jones v. State*, 904 So.2d 149, 152 (Miss. 2005). "The admissibility of evidence rests within the discretion of the trial court, and reversal will be appropriate only when an abuse of discretion resulting in prejudice to the accused occurs." *Palmer*, 939 So.2d at 794-95; *Clemons v. State*, 732 So.2d 883, 887 (Miss. 1999).

"The general rule is that evidence of a crime, other than the one for which the accused is being tried, is not admissible." *Palmer*, 939 So.2d at 795; *Ballenger v. State*, 667 So.2d 1242, 1256 (Miss. 1995); *Duplantis v. State*, 644 So.2d 1235, 1246 (Miss. 1994). The exceptions to the general rule are contained in M.R.E. 404(b):

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that he acted in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that the "admission of evidence of unrelated crimes for the purpose of showing the accused acted in conformity

therewith is reversible error, but admission for the above reasons is permissible."

Palmer, 939 So.2d at 795; Ballenger, 667 So.2d at 1256; Duplantis, 644 at 1247;

Rose v. State, 556 So.2d 728, 731 (Miss. 1990).

In the case at hand, the trial judge allowed the evidence in stating that motive was the reason. [T. 90]. If everything is true as claimed by Clay then it would not be motive. Clay alleges that West hit him in the back of the head with a beer bottle. Motive is defined as "[s]omething especially willful desire that leads one to act." *Black's Law Dictionary* 461 (Bryan A. Garner ed., pocket 2nd ed., West 2001). Clay being knocked out would not lead one to act out against him again. Clay would have a motive to act against West, if the incident in the lounge was true, not the other way around. If West had beat him up and won the fight, he would have no reason to harm him again. This evidence was admitted strictly to show prejudice against West and to show that he acted in conformity therewith on a particular occasion, not to show motive.

"Even [if] the testimony passed muster under Miss. R. Evid. 404(b) it still must be admissible under the ultimate filter of Miss. R. Evid. 403, meaning that the risk of undue prejudice cannot substantially outweigh the probative value." *Palmer*, 939 So.2d at 795; *Ballenger*, 667 So.2d at 1257; *Duplantis*, 664 So.2d at 1246-47, *Lesley v. State*, 606 So.2d 1084, 1080-90 (Miss. 1992). The Mississippi Supreme Court "has held that whenever Miss. Rule Evid. 404(b) evidence is offered and there is an objection which is overruled, the objection shall be deemed an invocation of the

right to a Miss. R. Evid. 403 balancing analysis." *Palmer*, 939 So.2d at 795; *Brown* v. *State*, 890 So.2d 901, 912 (Miss. 2004); *Bishop v. State*, 761 So.2d 894 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000). However, the trial court in this case did not conduct the balancing test. The court just stated that is was relevant to motive and thinks it is admissible. [T. 90]. The judge never mentioned Rule 403 and never mentioned anything about a balancing analysis.

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