IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

HANCE CHATAVIUS WEST

APPELLANT

VS.

FILED

NO. 2006-KA-1353-COA

MAY 3 0 2007

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1. Continuance.

West's argument is devoid of merit for no fewer than four (4) reasons.

First, appellant's claim that a continuance should have been granted is incapable of being reviewed on appeal to this Court because the denial of a continuance was not assigned as a ground in West's motion for a new trial. Crawford v. State, 787 So.2d 1236 (Miss. 2001).

Second, this Court has repeatedly said that trial judges have vested in them broad discretionary powers in granting or refusing to grant a continuance. The decision to grant or deny a motion for a continuance will not be grounds for reversal unless it is shown to have resulted in "manifest injustice." Coleman v. State, 697 So.2d 777 (Miss. 1997).

We agree wholeheartedly with the circuit judge that the medical records were not crucial to any aspect of the case. (R. 3)

Counsel for West stated prior to trial that "... customarily in an aggravated assault charge where bodily injury is one of the things that the State has to prove, they always provide medical records." (R. 3) In this case, however, proof of bodily injury or the seriousness thereof was not even remotely contested.

Third, the two lawyers for West were afforded a "reasonable opportunity... to examine the newly produced documents." Both were given 20-25 minutes prior to the beginning of trial to examine the medical dossier (R. 4) which was ultimately admitted into evidence without objection by the defendant or his counsel. (R. 246)

In addition to this, before the State called its first witness, the trial judge declared a 20 minute recess (R. 41), later a 30 minute recess (R. 57), and subsequently the court gave the parties an hour and 45 minutes for lunch. (R. 69) That's nearly three (3) hours for four (4) eyes to review

the medical dossier, the content of which is not particularly complicated.

Ms. White-Richard, one of West's two lawyers, obviously had a sufficient amount of time to study the medical reports. During cross-examination of Clay the following colloquy took place.

- Q. So that Sunday hadn't you been at the house smoking a little weed?
- A. No, I do not smoke. They drug test me every day at UPS. We have random drug test.

MS. WHITE-RICHARD: May I approach the witness, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You may.

- Q. Mr. Clay, this is out of the medical records that you had. It says, patient, Laurence Clay, if I'm reading this correctly, you let me know. Twenty-six years old, the account number and the date that you were there. It says January the 8th of '06, correct?
 - A. Uh-huh.
- Q. From marijuana it shows greater than one-point - one hundred thirty-five; is that correct? Do you know what that means?
 - A. Uh-uh, what it mean?
- Q. The presence of marijuana. You know how that would have shown up in your system? I'm asking you.
- A. Could have been around somebody [that] was smoking. (R. 120-21) [emphasis ours]

Counsel for the defense was able to cover the proverbial waterfront with respect to the revelation, if any, in the medical dossier concerning Clay's marijuana use.

During defense counsel's cross-examination of Iris Stacker, an administrator with the Delta Regional Medical Center, counsel elicited testimony that Clay's chemistry profile reflected

"marijuana in urine greater than 135-point-0" which was above the normal range. (R. 248-49) A continuance for the purpose of amplifying this matter was neither justified nor required.

Fourth, counsel stated that a continuance was required because "... we don't know whether or not there's something in there that we could use." (R. 2)

There wasn't.

It was a futile fishing expedition, if you please. At best, the records contained only impeaching evidence as opposed to any substantive matters beneficial to West's defense. (Brief of the Appellant at 7) Given the facts and circumstances found in this case, 175 minutes (20 + 20 + 30 + 60 + 45 minutes) was a reasonable time for review of the records which, quite frankly, contain nothing that would have really benefitted West in defense of the charges.

Accordingly, no abuse of judicial discretion or manifest injustice has been demonstrated here.

ISSUE NO. 2. Prior Bad Acts.

The trial judge did not abuse his judicial discretion in admitting the testimony criticized here.

A cautionary charge targeting the earlier altercation was granted. (C.P. at 26)

"Appellate courts assume that juries follow the [trial court's] instructions." Clemons v. State, 535 So.2d 1354, 1361 (Miss. 1988).

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1.

THE DENIAL OF A CONTINUANCE IS NOT SUBJECT TO APPELLATE REVIEW BECAUSE SUCH WAS NOT ASSIGNED AS A GROUND FOR A NEW TRIAL.

IN ANY EVENT, NO MANIFEST INJUSTICE ENSUED. THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ABUSE HIS JUDICIAL DISCRETION IN DENYING A CONTINUANCE.

We opine at the outset that the target of West's appellate complaint is the denial of a continuance and not belated discovery. (Brief of the Appellant at i., 4, 8, 9, 10) West asserts he "... was entitled to a continuance of the proceedings against him and failure to do so was prejudicial error which entitles a reversal and remand to the trial court." (Brief of the Appellant at 10)

In ruling on the motion, voiced ore tenus prior to trial, Judge Hines stated:

THE COURT: Well, I'm going to deny the motion, because, I don't know, I just don't see that the medical records are that crucial to the -- you know, to any aspect of the case, but I'll give you a little recess to look at them. How thick is it?

MR. RICHARDSON: This is the copy we had made of what she has. She has them.

MS. WHITE-RICHARD: It's pretty thick.

THE COURT: Well, I'll give y'all a little recess to look over that, if you want. (R. 3-4)

The trial judge was eminently correct. The nature of Clay's injuries and the extent and duration of his treatment at the medical center are not issues in this appeal. In short, West was neither ambushed nor surprised.

West argues that "[t]estimony from Clay that he did not smoke marijuana could have been contradicted by an expert reviewing these records." (Brief of the Appellant at 7)

West majors on the minors.

Assuming Clay's occasional marijuana use was admissible, such was merely impeaching evidence excruciatingly insufficient to undermine the integrity of Clay's version of the shooting and his identity of West as the shooter. As pointed out in our summary of the argument, counsel for the defense cross-examined Clay concerning a notation in the medical records that marijuana was present in Clay's system. (R. 121-22)

West's complaint is devoid of merit for this reason, if for no other.

West states in his brief that "[t]he trial court only allowed West a few minutes to view the document." (Brief of the Appellant at 4)

This claim is somewhat misleading.

We pointed out in our summary of the argument, that the four eyes of dual counsel had a total of nearly three (3) hours to review the medical dossier. While the right hand was doing one thing, the left hand could have been leafing through the medical dossier. No expert was needed to analyze the records because the documents were penned in plain and ordinary English.

In accordance with Rule 9.04 of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice,

"... the defense [was given] a reasonable opportunity . . . to examine the newly produced
documents . . ."

West argues that "[a] motion for continuance would have allowed West a proper defense and a reasonable opportunity to review the records." Regrettably, West has yet to identify that "proper defense." Accordingly, the "interest of justice" did not require a continuance.

More importantly, however, the denial of a continuance is not an issue capable of being reviewed on appeal where, as here, the denial of the continuance is not assigned as a ground for a new trial in the defendant's post-trial motion for a new trial. (C.P. at 50-51)

On motion for a new trial, certain errors must be brought to the attention of the circuit judge so that he may have the opportunity to pass upon their validity before the Supreme Court, a reviewing tribunal, is called upon to review them. Shelton v. State, 853 So.2d 1171, 1182 (Miss. 2003), citing Metcalf v. State, 629 So.2d 558 (Miss. 1993), and Farris v. State, 764 So.2d 411, 423 (Miss. 2000). One of those errors is the denial of a continuance in the trial court which is not reviewable unless the party whose motion for continuance was denied makes a motion for a new trial

on this ground. Crawford v. State, 787 So.2d 1236 (Miss. 2001).

We go no further than the following language found in **Pool v. State**, 483 So.2d 331, 336 (Miss. 1986), which is dispositive of West's complaint:

Finally, Pool is procedurally barred from raising this issue on appeal, as it was not listed as grounds in his motion for a new trial.

The denial of a continuance in the trial court is not reviewable unless the party whose motion for continuance was denied makes a motion for a new trial on this ground, making the necessary proof to substantiate the motion.

Colson v. Sims, 220 So.2d 345, 347, n. 1 (Miss. 1969); see also Jackson v. State, 423 So.2d 129 (Miss. 1982).

See also Morgan v. State, 741 So.2d 246, 255 (Miss. 1999)["Morgan's motion for new trial and for judgment notwithstanding the verdict made no mention of the denial of a continuance. Because the issue was not properly preserved, and because the trial court did not have the opportunity to rule on this claimed error, this issue is not properly before this Court and is procedurally barred."]; Reeves v. State, 825 So.2d 77 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002)[Denial of a continuance in the trial court is not reviewable in the appellate court unless the party whose motion for a continuance was denied makes a motion for a new trial on this ground.]

There is no reference to the denial of a continuance in West's motion for a new trial. (C.P. at 50-51) West has failed to demonstrate the issue was preserved for appellate review. Regrettably, all of this is fatal to his present complaint. **Johnson v. State**, 926 So.2d 246 (Ct.App.Miss. 2005), reh denied.

Counsel for West has not stated how West's defense to the shooting and failure to stop would have been any different had he had additional time to review the medical reports. No prejudice to West has been seriously alleged or demonstrated.

Regrettably, there is nothing in the present record demonstrating that Judge Hines abused his broad discretionary powers in failing to grant a continuance. Stated differently, there is nothing in this record demonstrating the denial of a last minute continuance resulted in a "manifest injustice."

This Court has repeatedly said that trial judges have vested in them broad discretionary powers in granting or refusing to grant a continuance. Payton v. State, 897 So.2d 921 (Miss. 2003) citing Rule 9.04, Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules; Smiley v. State, 815 So.2d 1140 (Miss. 2002), reh denied; Richardson v. State, 722 So.2d 481 (Miss. 1998); Wilson v. State, 716 So.2d 1096 (Miss. 1998), citing Miss. Code Ann. Section 99-15-29; Greene v. State, 406 So.2d 805 (Miss. 1981), citing section 99-15-29, Mississippi Code 1972 Annotated (1973); Clay v. State, 829 So.2d 676 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002), reh denied, cert denied 829 So.2d 1245; Gilbert v. State, 934 So.2d 330 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006), reh denied; McFadden v. State, 929 So.2d 365 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006), reh denied.

Unless the trial court abuses its discretion to the prejudice of the defendant, its action will not be held error. See Carter v. State, 473 So.2d 471 (Miss. 1985); Greene v. State, supra; Woods v. State, 393 So.2d 1319 (Miss. 1981); Norman v. State, 385 So.2d 1298 (Miss. 1980).

Moreover, the decision to grant or to deny a motion for a continuance will not be grounds for reversal unless it is shown to have resulted in "manifest injustice." Coleman v. State, 697 So.2d 777 (Miss. 1997); Atterberry v. State, 667 So.2d 622 (Miss. 1995); Lambert v. State, 654 So.2d 17 (Miss. 1995), appeal after remand 724 So.2d 392; Johnson v. State, 631 So.2d 185 (Miss. 1994); McGee v. State, 828 So.2d 847 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002); Peters v. State, 920 So.2d 1050 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006).

One of this Court's many expressions on the subject matter is found in Jackson v. State, 538

So.2d 1186, 1188-89 (Miss. 1989), where we find the following:

The standards our courts employ when one criminally accused requests a continuance may be found in Miss.Code Ann. Section 99-15-29 (1972). [footnote omitted] The granting or denial of a continuance rests within the sound discretion of the trial judge. [citations omitted]

Our dispositive inquiry is whether denial of Jackson's motion for a continuance resulted in substantial prejudice to his right to a fair opportunity to prepare and present his defense. Indeed, the last line of Section 99-15-29 reads

> [D]enial of continuance shall not be grounds for reversal unless the Supreme Court shall be satisfied that injustice resulted therefrom.

West has failed to demonstrate that a "manifest injustice" resulted from the denial of a last minute continuance the day trial was to begin. (R. 6)

ISSUE NO. 2.

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ABUSE HIS JUDICIAL DISCRETION IN ADMITTING TESTIMONY CONCERNING A PRIOR ALTERCATION.

West argues the trial judge erred in admitting testimony concerning a prior altercation between him and Clay taking place approximately a month prior to the incident at bar.

The testimony proffered by the State, outside the presence of the jury, is quoted as follows:

- Q. [BY PROSECUTOR:] Okay. Now, what happened? How did this [prior] altercation transpire?
- A. It all started because his sister - me and his sister was talking or whatever, and she had gave me a sexual disease.
 - Q. Okay. Now, was she there that night?
 - A. Yeah. She the one what got me and brought me to it.
 - Q. Did you have an altercation with the sister?
 - A. No, she said a few words, and I ignored her. [T]hat was it.

- Q. Okay and how did Hance - how did you and Hance have an altercation?
- A. She went and got him and brought him over there to where I was.
 - Q. And what happened when he came over there?
- A. Well, he hit he waited - we had a few words, told me don't disrespect his sister or whatever. I still didn't say nothing to him. I ignored him, didn't say nothing to him. As I was trying to leave, he hit me from behind with a bottle.
 - Q. And did you do anything in return?

A. No. (R. 87)

West argued in the court below, and argues on appeal as well, this evidence "... was offered to show that the accused acted in conformity therewith, not to show motive" and that it "... was more prejudicial than probative." (Brief of the Appellant at 4, 14)

The prosecutor, in turn, argued that

"... this testimony is indeed necessary as to the - - give the jury -- to paint the picture of the entire event or set of circumstances as they relate to this case. This prior altercation in fact happened just a month prior or less than a month, considering this was January 8, '06, when the victim was shot ... "(R. 89-90)

Judge Hines voiced the following ruling outside the hearing and presence of the jury:

THE COURT: Well, I think it's relevant as to motive, which is one of the exceptions to the 404, which I'll give you a limiting instruction on it. But as far as this testimony that he's offered here, I think that that's admissible, so I'll overrule the objection.

MS. WHITE-RICHARD: Okay, Your Honor. Motive as to?

THE COURT: Well, I think it goes as to motive as to the motive for him to do whatever he did that they allege he did on - -

MS. WHITE-RICHARD: The next date. Okay.

THE COURT: -- January 8th. (R. 90-91)

We point out that a cautionary charge targeting this evidence was granted in the form of jury instruction number 13 (CR-6). It reads, in its entirety, as follows:

The Court instructs the Jury that during the course of this trial you have heard offers of proof that an earlier altercation occurred between Mr. West and Mr. Clay. Proof of this incident is offered solely as evidence of motive. You should not consider this evidence for any other purpose. You should not consider this prior evidence as proof of Hance West's actions on January 8, 2006. (C.P. at 26) [emphasis ours]

We also invite the attention of this Court to the following paragraph found in jury instruction number 1:

The production of evidence in court is governed by rules of law. From time to time during the trial, it has been my duty as judge to rule on the admissibility of evidence. You must not concern yourself with the reasons for the Court's rulings since they are controlled and governed by the rules of law. You should not infer from any rulings by the court on these motions or objections that the court has any opinion on the merits favoring one side or the other. You should not speculate as to possible answers to questions which the court did not require to be answered. Further, you should not draw any inference from the content of these questions. (C.P. at 20-21) [emphasis ours]

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